

FEMS Microbiology Reviews 29 (2005) 1041-1050



www.fems-microbiology.org

Mycobacterial manipulation of the host cell

Anne Lise K. Hestvik, Zakaria Hmama *, Yossef Av-Gay *

Department of Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, 2733 Heather St. Vancouver, BC, Canada V5Z 3J5

Received 23 September 2004; received in revised form 12 March 2005; accepted 18 April 2005

First published online 1 July 2005

Abstract

Phagosome biogenesis, the process by which macrophages neutralize ingested pathogens and initiate antigen presentation, has entered the field of cellular mycobacteriology research largely owing to the discovery 30 years ago that phagosomes harboring mycobacteria are refractory to fusion with lysosomes. In the past decade, the use of molecular genetics and biology in different model systems to study phagosome biogenesis have made significant advances in understanding subtle mechanisms by which mycobacteria inhibit the maturation of its phagosome. Thus, we are beginning to appreciate the extent to which these pathogens are able to interfere with innate immune responses and manipulate defense mechanisms to enhance their survival within the human host cell. Here, we summarize current knowledge about phagosome maturation arrest in infected macrophages and the subsequent attenuation of the macrophage-initiated adaptive anti-mycobacterial immune defenses.

© 2005 Federation of European Microbiological Societies. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Myobacteria; Tuberculosis; Kinases; Phagosome maturation

Contents

1.	Introduction	1042
2.	The mycobacterial phagosome	1042
3.	Mycobacterial interference with macrophage trafficking events	1043
4.	Mycobacteria suppress MHC class II expression in macrophages	1044
5.	Manipulation of host cell actin dynamics	1045
6.	Mycobacterial mediators of host cell interactions	1047
	6.1. Mycobacterial lipids	1047
	6.2. Mycobacterial proteins	1048
7.	Concluding remarks	1048
	Acknowledgements	1048
	References	1049

* Corresponding authors. Tel.: +1 604 875 4588; fax: +1 604 875 4013. *E-mail addresses*: hmama@interchange.ubc.ca (Z. Hmama), yossi@interchange.ubc.ca (Y. Av-Gay).

1. Introduction

Mycobacterium tuberculosis constitutes a growing health concern causing up to 3 million deaths per year and an estimated 1000 million new infections by 2020 [1]. Co-infection with the human immunodeficiency virus makes tuberculosis one of the most common causes of death among people dying with AIDS. Additionally, the emergence of multi drug resistant strains, leading to a more severe infection, continues to raise the death toll. Twelve years have passed since the World Health Organization (WHO) declared tuberculosis (TB) a global health emergency. Since then, intensive efforts to control the spread of TB through supervised medication have been successful, but we are still desperately in need of new means to combat this disease.

Mycobacteria primarily infect host macrophages, which represent the first line of cellular defense against microbial invasion. Pathogenic species of mycobacteria have developed strategies to circumvent the major killing mechanisms employed by macrophages and take advantage of the enclosed environment within its host cell to avoid the antibody and complement mediated humoral immune response. The ability of mycobacteria to survive within macrophages has been one of the main foci of mycobacterial research over the past years. We have gained an increased understanding of how mycobacteria not only have the ability to adapt to a changing host environment [2], but also actively interfere with the signaling machinery within the host cell to counteract or inhibit parts of the killing apparatus employed by the macrophage.

The infected macrophage shows impaired antigen processing [3], reduced responsiveness to interferon- γ $(IFN-\gamma)$ [4], and reduced production of cytokines as well as reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates [5]. The observation that attenuated strains of mycobacteria, such as H37Ra and Mycobacterium bovis BCG are significantly more potent inducers of apoptosis than the corresponding virulent strains, H37Rv and wild-type M. bovis [6], has suggested that apoptosis functions as a host defense mechanism which is suppressed by virulent strains. Mycobacteria have also been shown to up regulate the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-10 (IL-10) to suppress host cell apoptosis [7]. Furthermore, virulent strains seem to manipulate the activation of the eukaryotic superfamily of mitogen-activated protein kinases to impair cytokine production or to stimulate anti-inflammatory responses (see [8] for review). This review will focus on mycobacterial interference with host cell defense mechanisms and will elaborate on some of the more recent findings related to mycobacterial-induced phagosomal maturation arrest. As the discussion of mycobacterial uptake coupled with cellular immediate response is a broad and independent field of research by itself, we focus

our attention in this review on discussing post-uptake host cellular responses to mycobacterial infection.

2. The mycobacterial phagosome

Normally, macrophage activation results in a series of events specifically designed to induce killing of engulfed microorganisms. These include: (i) the gradual acidification of the phagosome due to the activity of a proton-ATPase pump located in the phagosomal membrane, (ii) phagosome-lysosome fusion, which loads the resulting phagolysosome with proteolytic enzymes, (iii) induction of reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates and (iv) antigen processing. The resulting acidic and otherwise lethal environment is effectively designed to eliminate the invader and present the immune system with its antigenic determinants on the surface of the macrophage. Contrasting with this scenario, Armstrong and Hart [9] showed, more than 30 years ago, that phagosomes containing M. tuberculosis were resistant to fusion with the later stages of the endosomal-lysosomal pathway. Since then, it has been established that M. tuberculosis, the vaccine strain M. bovis BCG and Mycobacterium avium all reside in compartments secluded from the terminal stages of the endocytic pathway [10-13]. This block in phagosomal maturation is today considered a hallmark of mycobacterial infection and is thought to represent one of the key mechanisms by which mycobacteria are able to avoid host killing and survive within macrophages.

Phagosomes containing inert particles interact with the endosomal pathway through transient contacts, escribed as a kiss-and-run mechanism where fusion and fission events facilitate the delivery of contents and membrane components between endosomes and phagosomes [14]. The phagosome thereby acquires a membrane composition, which is more or less mirrored by the endosomal compartment with which it interacts at a given time. Purification of endocytic organelles and analysis of coat proteins has highlighted differences in the membrane composition of mycobacterial phagosomes compared to that of early and late endosomes (Table 1) and helped us to better understand the interaction between these compartments. Phagosomes containing viable, virulent mycobacteria show the presence of early endosomal markers such as the transferrin receptor, major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-class II molecules, and the ganglioside GM1 [10,15]. However, in contrast to phagosomes containing killed mycobacteria or the non-pathogenic strain Mycobacterium smegmatis, those containing virulent, live organisms exclude late endosomal markers such as the proton ATPase [16], mannose-6-phosphate receptor [13] and the lysosomal protease Cathepsin D [10]. These observations have led to the understanding that mycobacterial

Table 1 Selected list of membrane markers present in different endocytic compartments

Coat proteins	Early endosomes	Late endosomes	Mycobacterial phagosomes	Reference
Actin	_	+	_	[37]
ATPase proton pump	_	+	_	[16]
Calmodulin	_	+	_	[24]
Cathepsin D	_	+	_	[10]
EEA1	+	_	_	[21]
Ganglioside GM1	+	_	+	[15]
LAMP1	_	+	+	[13]
M6PR	_	+	_	[13]
Procathepsin D	+	_	+	[68]
Rab5	+	_	+	[20]
Rab7	_	+	_	[20]
Syntaxin6	_	+	_	[22]
TACO	+	_	+	[17]
Transferin receptor	+	_	+	[68]

EEA1, early endosomal antigen1; LAMP, lysosomal associated membrane protein1; M6PR, mannose-6-phosphate receptor, Rab; ras-assiociated protein; TACO, tryptophan aspartate-containing coat protein; (+), present; (-), not present or reduced.

phagosomes interact with early endosomal compartments, while resisting fusion with later stages. The absence of the proton ATPase is thought to account for the reduced acidification of mycobacterial phagosomes [16], which equilibrate to a pH of 6.2–6.3, compared to a pH of 5.3–5.4 normally associated with endosomal compartments.

The actin-binding protein coronin-1 [17] has been reported to be transiently recruited to the phagosomal membrane. However, the analysis of purified bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) phagosomes by Pieter's laboratory showed that coronin-1 (termed TACO) is actively retained on phagosomes containing live but not killed bacteria [18]. As coronin-1 is normally released prior to phagosome maturation into phagolysosomes [19], its retention on phagosomes was suggested as a marker of phagosome maturation arrest, which might also contribute mechanistically to this process. Conflicting with these findings, further investigations from Young's laboratory showed that coronin-1 is rather associated with early stages of mycobacterial phagocytosis but not with phagosome maintenance [20]. Therefore, more studies are necessary to confirm or refute the retention of TACO/coronin-1 on mycobacterial phagosome and if there is retention of coronin-1, it will be interesting to explain its functional significance.

3. Mycobacterial interference with macrophage trafficking events

The process of phagosomal maturation requires the assembly of a proper fusion machinery, which in part is determined by specific phagosomal coat proteins as well as cytoskeletal dynamics. The Rab-family of small GTPases plays an important role in this process by recruiting and facilitating fusion events between early and late organelles of the endocytic pathway. Two of the Rab proteins, Rab5 and Rab7, are normally only transiently associated with, respectively, early and late endosomal compartments (see [21] for review). Normally, Rab5 facilitates endocytosis and homotypic fusion between early endosomes while Rab7 regulates transport from early to late endosomes. Paradoxically, studies using murine macrophages transfected with dominant negative Rab5, Rab5(S34N), showed an increase in M. avium colocalization with markers of late endosomes/lysosomes and rapid mycobacterial killing [22]. Such a phenotype was reversed in cells supplemented with exogenous iron [22] suggesting that fusion with early endosomes is required for mycobacterial retention in early phagosomal compartments and that an inadequate supply of iron is one factor in mycobacteria's inability to prevent the normal maturation process in macrophages expressing inactive Rab5. In another line of investigations, Deretic and colleagues identified two Rab5 effectors, phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K) and the tethering protein early endosomal antigen1 (EEA1) as necessary for maturation of phagosomes into late endosomes [23,24]. M. tuberculosis as well as the cell wall glycolipid, mannosecapped lipoarabinomannan (ManLAM) have been found to mediate the exclusion of EEA1 from the phagosomal membrane in correlation with reduced maturation [23]. By using brefeldin A, a component that disrupts the Golgi network and inhibits Golgi-derived traffic to the endosomal pathway, it was shown that phagosomes acquire components from the Golgi network through a route independent of endosomes [25]. In this context, it was shown that the Man-LAM-induced EEA1 exclusion resulted from an inhibition of the sorting pathway from the trans-Golgi-network to phagosomes, and was seen in connection with inhibition of a PI3-kinase dependent pathway [25]. A block in this pathway can also explain the absence of phagosomal markers, such as the

vacuolar ATPase proton pump, Cathepsin D and the mannose-6-phosphate receptor on the mycobacterial phagosome [23].

Calcium is an important regulator of signaling pathways involved in phagosome-lysosome fusion and has recently been shown to affect phagosomal maturation [26,27]. Macrophages infected with live M. tuberculosis demonstrated a decrease in the elevation of calcium normally associated with phagocytic uptake [26]. Mycobacterial-induced inhibition of two principal calcium effectors, sphingosine kinase and calcium/calmodulin dependent protein kinase II (CaMII kinase) was associated with this observation [28]. Furthermore, inhibition of calcium was associated with reduced acidification of the phagosomal compartment. It was recently shown that also purified ManLAM from *M. tuberculosis* serves as a potent inhibitor of calcium increase during the early stages of infection [29]. Based on these observations, it was hypothesized that the inhibition of calcium increase is connected to the inhibition of EEA1-recruitment to phagosomal membranes [29]. In support of this, several observations were made: (1) calmodulin, necessary for the activation of CaMII kinase, promotes the association of phagosomes with EEA1; (2) the effects of calmodulin are PI3-kinase dependent; and (3) calcium is necessary for the interaction of PI3-kinase with calmodulin. Consequently, LAM-induced inhibition of intracellular calcium increase abrogates the activity of PI3-kinase, resulting in a block in the sorting pathway between the trans-Golgi-network and phagosomes. A recent report from the same group has suggested a role for the LAM precursor phosphatidylinositol mannoside (PIM) in facilitating fusion events between the mycobacterial phagosome and the early endocytic pathway [30]. In this manner, mycobacteria ensure delivery of nutrients to the phagosome, such as iron, that are essential for intracellular survival [31]. Together, these reports provide compelling evidence to suggest active mycobacterial interference with host signaling pathways to prevent the delivery of components critical for proper acidification and maturation of the phagosome, while at the same time ensure delivery of contents necessary for intra-phagosomal survival (Fig. 2). Screening of M. tuberculosis mutants revealed a series of mutants impaired in their ability to cause phagosome maturation arrest [32]. This, together with previous reports, including the involvement of a mycobacterial kinase [33] in blocking phagosome-lysosome fusion, suggest that this process involves more than a single mycobacterial factor.

4. Mycobacteria suppress MHC class II expression in macrophages

One of the most important functions of the macrophage is to initiate an adaptive immune response by presenting antigenic peptides to helper T cells. Recognition of the MHC class II associated antigens by the CD4⁺ T-cell population induces cell activation, proliferation, and the subsequent secretion of various cytokines, which in turn amplify macrophage responses and recruit pro-inflammatory leukocytes. Antigen processing, transportation, and final presentation of the antigen in combination with MHC class II molecules involve a complex process that initially is induced by INF- γ , the principal activator of macrophage resistance to intracellular pathogens (see [34] for review). Macrophages infected with *M. tuberculosis* show a markedly reduced expression of MHC class II molecules [10,35–37]. A model in which mycobacteria interfere with the INF- γ signaling pathway to suppress the expression of MHC class II molecules has been proposed. Although results from several groups indicate that IFN- γ signaling from receptor binding to signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT) phosphorylation, dimerization and nuclear translocation remains unaffected, there is evidence to suggest a mycobacterial-induced inhibition at the transcriptional level. For example, long-term exposure (48 to 72 h) to the purified mycobacterial 19-kDa antigen, has the capacity to partially inhibit IFN-y-induced surface expression of MHC class II [38]. Moreover, recent findings suggest that this may be related to attenuation of MHC gene transcription by p19 [39]. Several regulatory mechanisms are involved in the expression of functional class II molecules. After transcription, MHC molecules are assembled in the endoplasmatic reticulum. In combination with the chaperone molecule, invariant chain, and the class II-associated invariant chain peptide (CLIP), the class II dimer is transported from the trans-Golgi-network to the MHC class II compartment. Although mycobacterial phagosomes show a "relatively intense staining for MHC class II molecules" [10], these class II molecules are likely already loaded with peptide and derived from the plasma membrane and not from the trans-Golgi network [40]. Degradation of the invariant chain and removal of CLIP depend on the activity of specific cysteine proteases and is necessary for proper antigen loading of the class II molecule prior to membrane presentation (see [41] for review). In this context, we have shown that *M. tuberculosis* infection of the human monocytic cell line THP-1 inhibited MHC class II expression by blocking the transport and processing of MCH class II molecules through the enodosomal/ lysosomal system [35]. Additional findings from our laboratory showed that maturation of class II dimers - dependent upon removal of invariant chain and peptide loading – was reduced in infected cells by a mechanism dependent, at least in part, on alkalization of class II compartments by mycobacterial urease [42]. This finding indicates that MHC class molecules and

the associated invariant chain are successfully transported to the endocytic pathway and that the inhibitory effect exerted by M. tuberculosis on MHC class II expression occurs during their maturational processing rather than at earlier steps. The recent findings that mycobacteria specifically block a transportation pathway between the trans-Golgi network and the endocytic pathway has provided a likely explanation for the absence of the proton ATPase and certain lysosomal proteases on the mycobacterial phagosome [25]. Since maturation and peptide loading of MHC class II molecules are dependent on proteolytic activity of lysosomal proteases [43] a defect in the expression of these enzymes in class II compartments may also occur in infected cells. Indeed, recent findings in our laboratory (personal observation) showed that BCG inhibited IFN- γ induced cathepsin S activity in macrophages. Cathepsin S is a cysteine protease that plays a major role in the maturational processing of MHC class II, which precedes their export to the macrophage cell surface [44,45]. In this context we have observed that, inhibition of cathepsin S in infected cells correlated with a significant reduction in the expression of mature, peptide loaded, class II molecules, and increased the export of an immature (associated with invariant chain) class II population to the surface of macrophages.

5. Manipulation of host cell actin dynamics

Pathogenic species of mycobacteria have recently been found to interfere with the host cell's actin filament network [46,47]. Actin forms part of the eukaryotic cytoskeletal network and serves many cellular processes ranging from migration and membrane ruffling through phagocytosis and organ motility to the formation of stress fibers and cellular adherence. Several intracellular pathogens including Salmonella, Yersinia, Shigella, and enteropathogenic Escherichia coli depend on manipulation of the host cell cytoskeleton for their intracellular survival [48]. On this note, it is not surprising to find that species of mycobacteria interfere with cytoskeletal elements during intracellular infection of macrophages. Murine macrophages infected with M. avium displayed a time-dependent disruption of actin filaments in a similar manner to that observed after treatment of macrophages with the actin-depolymerizing agent, cytochalasin D [46]. This was the first report to propose actin filaments as a target for pathogenic species of mycobacteria. In a follow-up study, the mycobacterial-induced disruption of actin filaments was seen in connection with a delayed acquisition of phagosomal markers, indicating a resulting inhibitory effect on the endocytic transportation system [49].

We have argued for a role of the actin-binding protein α -adducin in mycobacterial infection based on increased α -adducin phosphorylation in cells exposed to whole bacteria (M. bovis BCG) or purified mannosecapped lipoarabinomannan [50]. Infection of cells leads to an increased distribution of phosphorylated adducin in the cytocolic fraction (Fig. 1A). This was further supported by western analyses showing a translocation of phosphorylated adducin from insoluble to soluble fraction [51]. These observations are in agreement with other reports [52,53] and indicate a dissociation of phosphorylated adducin from the actin-spectrin network [52]. Due to the role of adducin in cytoskeletal rearrangements [54], it was of interest to determine the distribution of actin in infected cells. Cells infected with live or heat-killed M. bovis BCG for 24 hours were stained for actin and demonstrated that heat-killed but not live bacteria co-localized with actin (Fig. 1B). In agreement with the latter result, fluorescence microscopy analyses of mycobacterial phagosomes have demonstrated that macrophages containing live pathogenic mycobacteria are refractory to phagosomal actin assembly [47]. In contrast, phagosomes containing the nonpathogenic M. smegmatis or killed M. tuberculosis assemble actin on their phagosomes in a manner very similar to that observed for phagosomes containing latex beads [47,55]. Furthermore, it was shown that several lipids, such as arachidonic acid, phosphatidlyoinositide (4,5)-bisphosphate (PI $(4,5)P_2$), and ceramide were able to activate and restore actin assembly resulting in phagosomal maturation and enhanced killing of pathogenic mycobacteria [47].

The specific role of actin filaments in endosomal biogenesis has long been unclear, but the analysis of latexbead phagosomes [56,57] has significantly contributed to our current understanding of this interaction. In vitro analyses have shown that actin nucleation is an inherent property of phagosomal membranes that depends on the presence of certain phosphoinositides and actin-binding proteins [58,59]. The actin filaments are nucleated with the fast-growing end localized at the membrane while the slow growing end extends outward. This orientation provides the right polarity for potential fusion partners to move along and has been suggested to act as tracks for endosomal organelles such as lysosomes (Fig. 2). Treatment of cells with agents that interfere with actin filament "treadmilling" (the process of polymerizing or de-polymerizing), such as cytochalasin D and latrunculin A, inhibits phagosomal transport and fusion along the endosomal pathway [56]. A closer examination of this phenomenon has recently shown that actin filaments act as scaffolds that facilitate clustering of phagosomes and endocytic organelles [60]. Furthermore, it was shown that only late endocytic organelles and not early endosomes, are able to nucleate actin [60]. Based on these observations, the data showing that mycobacterial



Fig. 1. (A) Intracellular distribution of adducin in infected cells. Untreated control cells showed a punctuate pattern of adducin staining mainly localized to the outskirts of the cell (Panel 1). Macrophages infected with live *M. bovis* BCG (Panel 2) showed an increased distribution of phosphorylated adducin in the cytosolic fraction. In contrast, cells infected with heat-killed bacteria (Panel 3) displayed a pattern of phospho-adducin distribution resembling that of control untreated cells. Red, Alexa-red conjugated secondary antibody for anti-phospho-adducin. Green, *M. bovis* BCG expressing the green fluorescent protein. (B) Phagosomal actin assembly. No colocalization between actin and mycobacteria-containing phagosomes was observed in macrophages infected with live *M. bovis* BCG (Panel 1). In stark contrast, infection with heat-killed bacteria showed that a significant proportion of engulfed bacteria were coated with actin (Panel 2). Panel 2 inset, shows area of colocalization enlarged. Red, Alexa-red conjugated phalloidin. Green, *M. bovis* BCG expressing the green fluorescent protein were coated with actin (Panel 2).



Fig. 2. Mycobacteria reside within phagosomes that retain early endosomal properties and resist fusion with later stages of the endosomal/lysosomal pathway. Mycobacteria-induced inhibition of phagosomal actin filament nucleation can possibly explain the inability to fuse with late endocytic vesicles. LAM induced inhibition of calcium elevation is linked to the inhibition of transportation pathways between the TGN and the phagosome and can account for the absence of the ATPase hydrogen pump and certain proteases on the mycobacterial phagosome. Mycobacterial lipids such as ManLAM and PIM can be responsible for some of these events. ER, endoplasmatic reticulum; ManLam, mannose-capped lipoarabinomannan; PIM; Phosphatidylinositol mannoside; TGN, *trans*-Golgi network; TR, transferrin receptor.

phagosomes resist fusion with late endosomes may be related to the ability of mycobacteria to inhibit phagosomal actin assembly. As suggested by Anes et al. [47], the addition of lipids may activate signaling cascades involved in actin regulations that had been suppressed by mycobacteria. The in depth analysis of lipid signaling and implications for mycobacterial infections is well beyond the scope of this review, but it is interesting to note the central role of phosphoinositides and phosphoinositide kinases in the regulation of membrane trafficking events (see [61] for review). $PI(4,5)P_2$ forms part of most endo-membranes and is a necessary component for initiation of membrane actin nucleation and vesicle membrane fusion [56]. Furthermore, the transportation of protein cargo from the trans-Golgi-network is dependent on $PI(4,5)P_2$ and its effectors consisting of actin, spectrin and ankyrin[62]. Re-establishment of the actin filament network through the addition of lipids may therefore not only allow for specific actin-mediated fusion events to occur, but also restore transportation pathways between Golgi and the endosomal pathway that are blocked by pathogenic mycobacteria [25].

Interestingly, *Mycobacterium marinum*, a species of mycobacteria which causes a tuberculosis-like disease in frog and fish and occasionally in humans, has recently been show to manipulate the host actin filament network in a way very similar to that described for the intracellular pathogen, *Listeria monocytogenes* [63]. Intraphagosomal *M. marinum* induced the formation of actin rocket tails that enabled an escape from the phagosome into the cytosol and, in some cases, further into neighboring cells. This behavior has never before been observed in mycobacteria and can be a unique feature of *M. marinum*, which reflects inherent differences between mycobacterial species.

6. Mycobacterial mediators of host cell interactions

The recent years' advances within the study of mycobacterial pathogenesis has provided compelling evidence suggesting that mycobacteria have the ability to actively interfere with host cell defense mechanisms through inhibition or counteraction. One of the main questions is: what are the mycobacterial mediators accountable for these effects?

6.1. Mycobacterial lipids

A survey of the heterogeneity in gene expression among various clinical isolates of *M. tuberculosis* [64] revealed a significant variability in the expression of genes involved in lipid metabolism. Earlier, studies from Barry's laboratory [65] identified a polyketide synthasederived phenolic glycolipid (PGL) as a highly biologically active lipid species in a subset of *M. tuberculosis* isolates belonging to the hypervirulent W-Beijing family. The functional relevance of PGL was further proven by the demonstration that disruption of PGL synthesis results in an increase in the release of the pro-inflammatory cyto-kines from infected cells and that infection with *M. tuber-culosis* overproducing PGL inhibited the release of these pro-inflammatory mediators [65]. Therefore, differences in the mycobacterial lipid metabolism may modify the host cellular immune response, thereby contributing to the observed diversity of clinical outcomes.

Lipids represent also an abundant feature of the mycobacterial cell wall and make ideal mediators for subverting host microbicidal mechanisms. Several reports indicate that the mycobacterial phagosome membrane is disrupted in a manner that may allow for entry of the organism or its products into the host cell cytosol [66,67]. Indeed, analysis of infected macrophages revealed that lipid-containing moieties are actively trafficking out of the mycobacteria-containing phagosome [68]. The cell wall glycolipid, ManLAM, of *M. tuberculosis*, has long been considered a virulence factor. As discussed above, several lines of evidence have implicated Man-LAM to be involved in a wide array of immunomodulatory functions. In addition to a direct role in phagosomal maturation arrest [25], ManLAM has been implicated in: (i) inhibition of IFN- γ signaling, (ii) scavenging of oxygen free radicals, and (iii) inhibition of protein kinase C [5]. Other glycolipids of the mycobacterial cell wall have also been shown to inhibit macrophage microbicidal functions. The 19-kDa-lipoprotein of M. tuberculosis has been found to inhibit several functions associated with host defense such as MHC class II expression and antigen processing [36]. Contradictory findings on the role of the 19-kDa lipoprotein with regard to apoptosis have shown either inhibition [69] or induction associated with release of interleukin-1 beta [70]. The 19-kDa lipoprotein of *M. tuberculosis* belongs to a family of bacterial lipoproteins characterized by a distinctive N-terminal lipo-amino acid, N-acyl S-diacylglycerol. Although deacvlation abrogates the effect of ManLAM, the same is not true for the 19-kDa lipoprotein where the non-acylated recombinant polypeptide component is sufficient for apoptosis induction [69]. Contrasting with these findings, ManLAM, another abundant lipidic molecule on the bacterial surface, does not induce apoptosis although the LAM precursor lipomannan (LM) is a potent inducer of apoptosis [71]. Rather, ManLAM was shown to promote cell survival via Bad phosphorylation dependent upon activation of the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway [72]. This is likely one of the virulence-associated mechanisms by which pathogenic mycobacteria would block host cell apoptosis dependent anti-mycobacterial activities. Thus, the relative abundance of p19 and ManLAM on the surface of *M. tuberculosis* would be a determinant for the outcome-survival versus intracellular killing of mycobacteria. In this context, studies of mycobacterial p19 knockout strains, and p19 distribution studies failed to demonstrate that the p19 molecules are needed for *M. tuberculosis* pathogenicity [73,74]. Intriguingly, the effects of both LAM and 19-kDa lipoprotein have been shown to be mediated by toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) [75]. Thus, how two antagonistic effects could be signaled via TLR2 is an important question to be elucidated in view to better understand macrophage-dependent innate immunity.

6.2. Mycobacterial proteins

Sequencing of the *M. tuberculosis* genome revealed the presence of eukaryotic-like protein kinases and protein phosphatases. An analysis of this family of phosphoproteins showed that at least six of them could be phosphorylated in vitro [76]. This clearly indicates the presence of functional protein kinases in *M. tuberculosis*. An earlier report demonstrated the existence of a major 55-kDa tyrosine phosphorylated protein [77] and so the presence of a functional tyrosine kinase in the M. tuberculosis genome was predicted. Surprisingly, no such kinase was identified. This poses the question as to the source and function of these tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins. If the virulence of M. tuberculosis is dependent on the activity of mycobacterial phospho-proteins, secretion of these proteins into the phagosome, and possibly through the phagosomal membrane into the host cell cytoplasm, is likely. Secretion of bacterial protein into the host cell is critical for the intracellular survival of pathogens such as Salmonella and Yersinia [78]. The recent identification of a specified secretion system in mycobacteria [79,80] raises the possibility of active transport of mycobacterial proteins into the host cell. Significantly, the culture medium of *M. tuberculosis* shows the presence of a protein tyrosine phosphatase [81] and a protein kinase [82], indicating an active secretion of these proteins.

Recently, *M. bovis* BCG mutant in a serine/threonine kinase PknG, was suggested to be essential for the survival of mycobacteria inside macrophages [33]. Walburger et al., demonstrated that PknG is secreted within the mycobacterial phagosome and involved in blocking phagosome–lysosome fusion. However, *M. tuberculosis* PknG knockout mutants are impaired in growth both in the in vitro stationary phase and in mice [82]. This, together with earlier reports suggesting that PknG is essential for mycobacterial growth under certain in vitro conditions [83], provide an alternative explanation to the reason behind PknG requirement for growth in macrophages.

7. Concluding remarks

The macrophage represents a highly specialized cell of the immune system, yet fails to eliminate the M.

tuberculosis bacillus, one of the most successful pathogens of our time. Through years of cohabitation and mutual interaction, *M. tuberculosis* has managed to establish itself within the macrophage, avoiding the host killing mechanisms.

The ability of *M. tuberculosis* to infect and persist within these specialized cells is a result of the bacteria's ability to adapt to a fluctuating host environment and to utilize the sources available to it within the host. Sequencing of the *M. tuberculosis* genome [84] and post-genomic research has allowed for the identification of genes important in growth and survival [83] and has significantly contributed to our understanding of the interaction between M. tuberculosis and its host environment. Mycobacterial proteins such as respiratory enzymes, stress-related products, metabolic enzymes and proteins involved in fatty-acid metabolism have been identified as essential for the survival of the bacteria within the host cell [see [2] for review]. Moreover, a critically important part of the mycobacterial survival lies in its ability to respond to the environment in which it resides. However, another- and probably equally important-part lies in the ability of mycobacteria to actively interfere with and manipulate host defense mechanisms.

Cell signaling controls virtually every cellular event and is regulated by two principal classes of enzymes: protein kinases and protein phosphatases. These enzymes represent key control points within the host cell and possible targets for mycobacterial interference. It is intriguing to hypothesize a model of interference with host cell signaling machinery in which mycobacterial mediators in the form of lipoproteins, protein kinases and protein phosphatases are transported out of the phagosomal membrane, into the host cell cytoplasm.

The past decades' advances in genomics, immunology, microbiology and biotechnology have increased our knowledge and taken us several steps further in our understanding of the interaction between *M. tuberculosis* and its host cell. However, the knowledge we have must be seen in the light of what methods we use to achieve it. The experimental work in macrophages employs a variety of cell lines and primary cells of murine and human origin. Results from different research laboratories have revealed considerable differences in responses to stimuli between primary cells and cell lines and also between the different cell lines. These differences especially apply to the study of signaling mechanisms where differences between cell lines are often manifested through variation in specific pathways.

Acknowledgements

We thank The TB vets Charitable Foundation for providing support to our research. Y.A. is supported by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) grant # MOP-68857. Y.A. is a Canadian Institute of Health Research and British Columbia Lung Association Scholar. Z.H. is a Canadian Institute of Health Research and Michael Smith Foundation Scholar.

References

- World Health Organization (2002) World Health Organization, Switzerland, Geneva..
- [2] Honer zu, B.K. and Russell, D.G. (2001). Trends Microbiol. 9, 597–605.
- [3] Moreno, C., Mehlert, A. and Lamb, J. (1988). Clin. Exp. Immunol 74, 206–210.
- [4] Sibley, L.D., Hunter, S.W., Brennan, P.J. and Krahenbuhl, J.L. (1988). Infect. Immun. 56, 1232–1236.
- [5] Chan, J., Fan, X.D., Hunter, S.W., Brennan, P.J. and Bloom, B.R. (1991). Infect. Immun. 59, 1755–1761.
- [6] Keane, J., Remold, H.G. and Kornfeld, H. (2000). J. Immunol. 164, 2016–2020.
- [7] Balcewicz-Sablinska, M.K., Keane, J., Kornfeld, H. and Remold, H.G. (1998). J. Immunol. 161, 2636–2641.
- [8] Schorey, J.S. and Cooper, A.M. (2003). Cell Microbiol. 5, 133– 142.
- [9] Armstrong, J.A. and Hart, P.D. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 142, 1– 16.
- [10] Clemens, D.L. and Horwitz, M.A. (1995). J. Exp. Med. 181, 257– 270.
- [11] de Chastellier, C., Lang, T. and Thilo, L. (1995). Eur. J. Cell Biol. 68, 167–182.
- [12] Deretic, V. and Fratti, R.A. (1999). Mol. Microbiol. 31, 1603– 1609.
- [13] Xu, S., Cooper, A., Sturgill Koszycki, S., van Heyningen, T., Chatterjee, D., Orme, I., Allen, P. and Russell, D.G. (1994). J. Immunol. 153, 2568–2578.
- [14] Duclos, S., Corsini, R. and Desjardins, M. (2003). J. Cell Sci. 116, 907–918.
- [15] Russell, D.G., Dant, J. and Sturgill Koszycki, S. (1996). J. Immunol. 156, 4764–4773.
- [16] Sturgill-Koszycki, S. et al. (1994). Science 263, 678-681.
- [17] Maniak, M., Rauchenberger, R., Albrecht, R., Murphy, J. and Gerisch, G. (1995). Cell 83, 915–924.
- [18] Ferrari, G., Langen, H., Naito, M. and Pieters, J. (1999). Cell 97, 435–447.
- [19] Grogan, A., Reeves, E., Keep, N., Wientjes, F., Totty, N.F., Burlingame, A.L., Hsuan, J.J. and Segal, A.W. (1997). J. Cell Sci. 110, 3071–3081.
- [20] Schuller, S., Neefjes, J., Ottenhoff, T., Thole, J. and Young, D. (2001). Cell Microbiol. 3, 785–793.
- [21] Deretic, V., Via, L.E., Fratti, R.A. and Deretic, D. (1997). Electrophoresis 18, 2542–2547.
- [22] Kelley, V.A. and Schorey, J.S. (2003). Mol. Biol. Cell 14, 3366– 3377.
- [23] Fratti, R.A., Backer, J.M., Gruenberg, J., Corvera, S. and Deretic, V. (2001). J. Cell Biol. 154, 631–644.
- [24] Chua, J. and Deretic, V. (2004). J. Biol. Chem. 279, 36982–36992.
- [25] Fratti, R.A., Chua, J., Vergne, I. and Deretic, V. (2003). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100, 5437–5442.
- [26] Malik, Z.A., Denning, G.M. and Kusner, D.J. (2000). J. Exp. Med. 191, 287–302.
- [27] Malik, Z.A., Iyer, S.S. and Kusner, D.J. (2001). J. Immunol. 166, 3392–3401.
- [28] Malik, Z.A., Thompson, C.R., Hashimi, S., Porter, B., Iyer, S.S. and Kusner, D.J. (2003). J. Immunol. (Baltimore, Md.: 1950) 170, 2811–2815.

- [29] Vergne, I., Chua, J. and Deretic, V. (2003). J. Exp. Med. 198, 653– 659.
- [30] Vergne, I., Fratti, R.A., Hill, P.J., Chua, J., Belisle, J. and Deretic, V. (2004). Mol. Biol. Cell 15, 751–760.
- [31] Schaible, U.E., Collins, H.L. and Kaufmann, S.H. (1999). Adv. Immunol. 71, 267–377.
- [32] Pethe, K., Swenson, D., Alonso, S., Anderson, J., Wang, C. and Russell, D. (2004). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 13642– 13647.
- [33] Walburger, A. et al. (2004). Science 304, 1800-1804.
- [34] Reith, W. and Mach, B. (2001). Annu. Rev. Immunol. 19, 331– 373.
- [35] Hmama, Z., Gabathuler, R., Jefferies, W.A., de Jong, G. and Reiner, N.E. (1998). J. Immunol. 161, 4882–4893.
- [36] Noss, E.H., Pai, R.K., Sellati, T.J., Radolf, J.D., Belisle, J., Golenbock, D.T., Boom, W.H. and Harding, C.V. (2001). J. Immunol. 167, 910–918.
- [37] Hussain, S., Zwilling, B.S. and Lafuse, W.P. (1999). J. Immunol. 163, 2041–2048.
- [38] Gehring, A.J., Rojas, R.E., Canaday, D.H., Lakey, D.L., Harding, C.V. and Boom, W.H. (2003). Infect. Immun. 71, 4487–4497.
- [39] Pai, R.K., Convery, M., Hamilton, T.A., Boom, W.H. and Harding, C.V. (2003). J. Immunol. 171, 175–184.
- [40] Ullrich, H.J., Beatty, W.L. and Russell, D.G. (2000). J. Immunol. (Baltimore, Md.: 1950) 165, 6073–6080.
- [41] Honey, K. and Rudensky, A.Y. (2003). Nat. Rev. Immunol. 3, 472–482.
- [42] Sendide, K., Deghmane, A.E., Reyrat, J.M., Talal, A. and Hmama, Z. (2004). Infect. Immun. 72, 4200–4209.
- [43] Bryant, P. and Ploegh, H. (2004). Curr. Opin. Immunol. 16, 96– 102.
- [44] Hsieh, C.S., deRoos, P., Honey, K., Beers, C. and Rudensky, A.Y. (2002). J. Immunol. 168, 2618–2625.
- [45] Bania, J., Gatti, E., Lelouard, H., David, A., Cappello, F., Weber, E., Camosseto, V. and Pierre, P. (2003). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100, 6664–6669.
- [46] Guerin, I. and de Chastellier, C. (2000). Eur. J. Cell Biol. 79, 735– 749.
- [47] Anes, E.K.M., Bos, E., Moniz-Pereira, J., Habermann, A. and Griffiths, G. (2003). Nature Cell Biol. 5, 793–802.
- [48] Gruenheid, S. and Finlay, B.B. (2003). Nature 422, 775–781.
- [49] Guerin, I. and de Chastellier, C. (2000). Infect. Immun. 68, 2655– 2662.
- [50] Hestvik, A.L., Hmama, Z. and Av-Gay, Y. (2003). Infect. Immun. 71, 5514–5522.
- [51] Hestvik, A.L. (2003) Master thesis, University of British Columbia, Vanoucer, BC. Canada.
- [52] Barkalow, K.L., Italiano, J.E., Chou, D.E., Matsuoka, Y., Bennett, V. and Hartwig, J.H. (2003). J. Cell Biol. 161, 557–570.
- [53] Gilligan, D.M., Sarid, R. and Weese, J. (2002). Blood 99, 2418– 2426.
- [54] Matsuoka, Y., Li, X. and Bennett, V. (2000). Cell. Mol. Life Sci.: CMLS 57, 884–895.
- [55] Desjardins, M. and Griffiths, G. (2003). Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 15, 498–503.
- [56] Jahraus, A. et al. (2001). Mol. Biol. Cell 12, 155-170.
- [57] Defacque, H., Egeberg, M., Antzberger, A., Ansorge, W., Way, M. and Griffiths, G. (2000). Cytometry: J. Soc. Anal. Cytol. 41, 46–54.
- [58] Defacque, H. et al. (2002). Mol. Biol. Cell 13, 1190-1202.
- [59] Defacque, H. et al. (2000). EMBO J. 19, 199–212.
- [60] Kjeken, R. et al. (2004). Mol. Biol. Cell 15, 345-358.
- [61] Martin, T. (2001). Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 13, 493-499.
- [62] De Matteis, M.A. and Morrow, J.S. (2000). J. Cell Sci. 113, 2331– 2343.
- [63] Stamm, L.M. et al. (2003). J. Exp. Med. 198, 1361-1368.

- [64] Gao, Q., Kripke, K.E., Saldanha, A.J., Yan, W., Holmes, S. and Small, P.M. (2005). Microbiology 151, 5–14.
- [65] Reed, M., Domenech, P., Manca, C., Su, H., Barczak, A., Kreiswirth, B., Kaplan, G. and Barry, C. (2004). Nature 431, 84– 87.
- [66] McDonough, K.A., Kress, Y. and Bloom, B.R. (1993). Infect. Immun. 61, 2763–2773.
- [67] Teitelbaum, R., Cammer, M., Maitland, M.L., Freitag, N.E., Condeelis, J. and Bloom, B.R. (1999). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96, 15190–15195.
- [68] Beatty, W.L., Rhoades, E.R., Ullrich, H.J., Chatterjee, D., Heuser, J.E. and Russell, D.G. (2000). Traffic 1, 235–247.
- [69] Lopez, M., Sly, L.M., Luu, Y., Young, D., Cooper, H. and Reiner, N.E. (2003). J. Immunol. 170, 2409–2416.
- [70] Ciaramella, A. et al. (2004). J. Infect. Dis. 190, 1167-1176.
- [71] Dao, D.N., Kremer, L., Guerardel, Y., Molano, A., Jacobs Jr., W.R., Porcelli, S.A. and Briken, V. (2004). Infect. Immun. 72, 2067–2074.
- [72] Maiti, D., Bhattacharyya, A. and Basu, J. (2001). J. Biol. Chem. 276, 329–333.
- [73] Lathigra, R., Zhang, Y., Hill, M., Garcia, M.J., Jackett, P.S. and Ivanyi, J. (1996). Res. Microbiol. 147, 237–249.

- [74] Mahenthiralingam, E., Marklund, B.I., Brooks, L.A., Smith, D.A., Bancroft, G.J. and Stokes, R.W. (1998). Infect. Immun. 66, 3626–3634.
- [75] Means, T.K., Wang, S., Lien, E., Yoshimura, A., Golenbock, D.T. and Fenton, M.J. (1999). J. Immunol. 163, 3920–3927.
- [76] Av-Gay, Y. and Everett, M. (2000). Trends Microbiol. 8, 238– 244.
- [77] Chow, K., Ng, D., Stokes, R. and Johnson, P. (1994). FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 124, 203–207.
- [78] Zaharik, M.L., Gruenheid, S., Perrin, A.J. and Finlay, B.B. (2002). Int. J. Med. Microbiol. 291, 593–603.
- [79] Stanley, S.A., Raghavan, S., Hwang, W.W. and Cox, J.S. (2003). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100, 13001–13006.
- [80] Guinn, K.M., Hickey, M.J., Mathur, S.K., Zakel, K.L., Grotzke, J.E., Lewinsohn, D.M., Smith, S. and Sherman, D.R. (2004). Mol. Microbiol. 51, 359–370.
- [81] Cowley, S.C., Babakaiff, R. and Av-Gay, Y. (2002). Res. Microbiol. 153, 233–241.
- [82] Cowley, S. et al. (2004). Mol. Microbiol. 52, 1691-1702.
- [83] Sassetti, C.M., Boyd, D.H. and Rubin, E.J. (2003). Mol. Microbiol. 48, 77–84.
- [84] Cole, S.T. et al. (1998). Nature 393, 537–544.